

Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies

wiiw Working Papers | 33

Kazimierz Laski

Macroeconomics versus 'Common Sense'

December 2004

wiiw Working Papers published so far:

No. 1	K. Laski et al.: Transition from the Command to the Market System: what went wrong and what to do now? March 1993
No. 2	A. Bhaduri: Patterns of Economic Transition and Structural Adjustments. February 1994
No. 3	E. Dzwonik-Wrobel and J. Zieba: Money Supply and Money Demand in Poland, 1990-1992. July 1994
No. 4	A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Fallacies in Aggregate Demand/Supply Analysis, July 1994
No. 5	A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Making Sense of the Aggregate Demand-Supply Model. March 1995
No. 6	A. Bhaduri: Reflections on the Economic Role of the Transformational State. December 1995
No. 7	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Industrial Specialization, Catching-Up and Labour Market Dynamics. January 1997
No. 8	J. Fersterer and M. Landesmann: Vertical Product Differentiation in International Trade: An Econometric Investigation. April 1998
No. 9	A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Effective Demand versus Profit Maximization in Aggregate Demand/Supply Analysis from a Dynamic Perspective. November 1998
No. 10	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: The European Unemployment Problem: A Structural Approach. March 1999
No. 11	R. Stehrer, M. Landesmann and J. Burgstaller: Convergence Patterns at the Industrial Level: the Dynamics of Comparative Advantage. October 1999
No. 12	K. Laski: Three Ways to High Unemployment. January 2000
No. 13	F. Turnovec: A Leontief-type Model of Ownership Structures. Methodology and Implications. April 2000
No. 14	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Potential Switchovers in Comparative Advantage: Patterns of Industrial Convergence. June 2000
No. 15	R. Stehrer: Industrial Specialization, Trade, and Labour Market Dynamics in a Multisectoral Model of Technological Progress. January 2001; revised version February 2002
No. 16	K. Laski and R. Römisch: Growth and Savings in USA and Japan. July 2001
No. 17	P. Egger and R. Stehrer: International Outsourcing and the Skill-Specific Wage Bill in Eastern Europe. July 2001
No. 18	R. Stehrer: Expenditure Levels, Prices and Consumption Patterns in a Cross-Section of Countries. August 2001
No. 19	R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Technological Convergence and Trade Patterns. October 2001
No. 20	M. Landesmann, R. Stehrer and S. Leitner: Trade Liberalization and Labour Markets: Perspective from OECD Economies. October 2001
No. 21	E. Christie: Potential Trade in South-East Europe: A Gravity Model Approach. March 2002
No. 22	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Technical Change, Effective Demand and Economic Growth. April 2002
No. 23	R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Industrial Diversity, Trade Patterns and Productivity Convergence. November 2002; revised version July 2003
No. 24	E. Christie: Foreign Direct investment in Southeast Europe: a Gravity Model Approach. March 2003
No. 25	J. Wörz: Skill Intensity in Foreign Trade and Economic Growth. November 2003; revised version January 2004
No. 26	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Global Growth Processes: Technology Diffusion, Catching-up and Effective Demand. January 2004
No. 27	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Modelling International Economic Integration: Patterns of Catching-up, Foreign Direct Investment and Migration Flows. March 2004
No. 28	L. Podkaminer: Assessing the Demand for Food in Europe by the Year 2010. March 2004
No. 29	U. Dulleck, N. Foster, R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Dimensions of Quality Upgrading in CEECs. April 2004
No. 30	R. Stehrer: Can Trade Explain the Sector Bias of Skill-biased Technical Change? May 2004
No. 31	M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Income Distribution, Technical Change and the Dynamics of International Economic Integration. September 2004
No. 32	A. Hildebrandt and J. Wörz: Determinants of Industrial Location Patterns in CEECs. November 2004
No. 33	K. Laski: Macroeconomics versus 'Common Sense'. December 2004

Kazimierz Laski

Macroeconomics versus 'Common Sense'

Kazimierz Laski is a research associate of wiiw.

Contents

Al	pstracti
1	Introduction1
2	How to increase the utilization of an already existing underutilized railway line? 1
3	The commodity surplus in the sector producing consumer goods
4	The 'income effect of investment'
5	Investment – an unsteady phenomenon5
6	Quantity versus price adjustment5
7	A two-sector model7
8	The supply and demand constraint systems9
9	The level of wages and unemployment 10

Abstract

The very basis of macroeconomics is the circular flow of expenditures and incomes. From this follows the conclusion that it is demand which determines supply and not vice versa. The most paradoxical result of this approach is the hypothesis that investment finances itself: by quantity adjustment, if capacity and labour are not fully employed (a typical feature of a capitalist economy) or by price adjustment, i.e. by demand-pull inflation (if capacity and labour force are underemployed).

Keywords: consumer goods surplus, income and capacity effect of investment, quantity versus price adjustment, two-sector model

JEL classification: E1, E2, P5

Kazimierz Laski

Macroeconomics versus 'common sense'*

1 Introduction

The title of this paper does not imply that 'macroeconomics' and 'common sense' contradict each other. It rather intends to suggest that common sense, our true companion in everyday life, may fail if taken as a guide in economic theorizing. However, common sense as it is used in individual private households' and individual private firms' decisions constitutes the very basis of the liberal economic theory. This theory assumes that when every economic agent is directed by – and only by – its individual advantage (the consumer by the maximization of utility, the firm by the maximization of profits) the national economy as a whole would achieve, through the working of the market mechanism, a well-defined optimal efficiency.

The Great Crisis of the 1930s shattered the belief in the power of this miraculous mechanism and gave rise to the school of macroeconomics linked to the name of John Maynard Keynes, the famous Cambridge economist – although the first formulation of this theory (1933) is rather due to the Polish economist Michal Kalecki.¹ Macroeconomics has become a true revolution in economic thinking: it proved, for the first time, that the belief of liberal economics in the perfect functioning of the spontaneous market regulation is baseless. After Word War II, up until the mid-1970s, the Keynes-Kalecki macroeconomics prevailed in economic university teaching and also in practical discussions on economic policy matters. However, in the following decade a change took place which Walt Rostow, a well-known US economist and politician, called 'the barbaric counterrevolution' in economic policy as well. One of the reasons why this change of paradigm has been so easily accepted by the public lies in the fact that new-old theory appeals to individual common sense, while Keynes-Kalecki macroeconomics runs very often against it.

2 How to increase the utilization of an already existing underutilized railway line?

Michal Kalecki used the following anecdote to explain his theory. Let us assume, he would say, that an already existing railway line is utilized at an unsatisfactory level because unemployment is high and the business climate in the region is bad. What can be done?

^{*} Inaugural lecture held at the opening of the academic year 2003/2004 at the Warsaw School of Economic and Social Studies (WSSE), Poland, 2003.

¹ 'Outline of a Theory of the Business Cycle' in: M. Kalecki (1971), Selected Essays on the Dynamics of the Capitalist Economy, Cambrigüdge University Press, pp. 1-14.

² W. W. Rostow (1983), *The Barbaric Counter-Revolution: Cause and Cure*, University of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

The provocative answer given by Kalecki was: Let us start building a new railway line just parallel to the existing one. The construction of the line would require ordering the production of new rails, new beddings as well as materials for the building industry. The fulfilment of these orders would lead to a higher level of economic activity in the region in which the old underutilized railway line was located. Indeed the steel mills, the factories producing beddings, cement etc. would require additional labour and material inputs which in turn would require additional employment in sectors producing these intermediate inputs. Higher employment in many places would result in higher consumption expenditure, which in turn would require an increase in the production of consumer goods. The increased level of economic activity in the region under consideration would raise the demand for transport services and the utilization of the initially mentioned railway line would improve at last as well.

However, what is to be done when sooner or later the second railway line gets ready, when orders related to this endeavour are fulfilled, when as a result people start anew losing their jobs and earnings? Then it is necessary – was the answer given by Kalecki – to immediately start building a third railway line next to the two already existing ones. Of course, it does not make great sense to continue building new railway lines next to existing ones just in order to assure their proper utilization. But the anecdote is not to be understood *verbatim*. What matters is the main idea behind: better utilization of existing resources requires their growth just as keeping one's balance on a bike requires the bike to move. The anecdote also shows that the conclusions drawn from common sense in the usual meaning of the word are not very helpful when analysing problems related to the level of economic activity in the case of underutilized capacity.

Besides, this is true not only as regards economics. In many other branches of theorizing as well, common sense based on everyday experience is a poor advisor when scientific conclusions are looked for. A coin thrown from the window would fall to earth more quickly than a feather, however, when we put both in a vacuous tube they would fall at the same speed. This is so because gravity, which causes the fall, does not depend on the mass of the falling object. Similarly, it is the earth which turns around the sun contrary to what our everyday experience, based on the observation of sunrise and sunset, would suggest.

The everyday experience of a private household tells us that our capacity to spend, hence our demand for consumer goods and services, depends in a decisive way upon our incomes. It is impossible – at least in the long run – to spend more than one earns. Thus the hypothesis that our individual income determines our expenditure is indeed well founded. In the economy as a whole, however, this is not the case – as will be proved below: here aggregate expenditures determine aggregate incomes, or it is the aggregate demand which determines the aggregate supply. This is the central hypothesis of Keynes-Kalecki macroeconomics.

3 The commodity surplus in the sector producing consumer goods

We start with an extremely abstract example to explain the term 'consumer goods surplus'. Let us assume that the national economy consists of one – and only one – private firm producing bread as a final good. This is, however, a very special firm because – using already existing equipment – it produces for itself all the intermediate inputs (flour, grain, fertilizers, energy etc.) required for the production of the final good. In economics, such a firm is called a vertically integrated firm and (disregarding amortization) the cost of bread, the final commodity, depends on the aggregate wages on all stages of production.

Let us further assume that the full capacity output of our firm in a certain period amounts to 1000 loaves of bread and the price of one loaf is 1 EUR. Thus the value of output may reach 1000 EUR. Let us further assume that aggregated wages at this level of output amount to 800 EUR and that workers spend all their earnings on bread. Thus the owner of the firm could sell 800 loaves of bread to his workers but, disregarding his own consumption, he would be left with 200 loaves of bread which would not be saleable if the firm under consideration is – according to our assumption – the only one in the economy. This is the potential 'consumer goods surplus' because it could not be sold under the given circumstances.

However, is this result due to the initial assumption that our vertically integrated 'bakery' is the only firm in the national economy? No! Let us assume that we have plenty of integrated firms producing final consumer goods (food, garments, furniture, home electronics, cars etc.). For each of these integrated firms our reasoning could be applied in the sense that aggregate wages cannot buy the final product, thus the 'consumer commodity surplus' would still appear. The only difference is that our initial assumption - that workers would buy only, and would live only on, bread - can be dropped. They could buy whatever they find on the market, still they could not buy the 'consumer goods surplus'. The conclusion we arrive at is the following: the multiplicity of firms belonging to the vertically integrated consumer sector does not solve the problem of the 'consumer goods surplus'. The latter simply cannot be sold if the national economy consists of the consumer goods sector only. This is however a major question because for the owners of the firms in this sector, the surplus represents potential profits, the very goal of their activity. They would earn real profits only if this surplus could be sold. As profits do exist in real life, the selling of the 'consumer goods surplus' does take place - which implies the existence in the national economy of a sector that produces final goods being non-consumer goods. This is the direction in which our model must now be extended.

4 The 'income effect of investment'

The most important non-consumer final goods in the economy are investment goods.³ These are goods that replace or expand worn-out capacities and increase inventories. When we look at investment from this point of view, we describe the 'capacity effect' of investment, its very *raison d'être*. This is of course a very important effect of investments because otherwise they would not be needed. However, in the Kalecki anecdote the 'capacity effect' (the completion of the second railway line) was a nuisance rather than the target. Indeed, a second railway line next to an unsatisfactorily utilized first one does not make much sense. In the centre of the Kalecki anecdote stood, however, the 'income effect' of investment: as long as investment projects are being realized, people directly or indirectly taking part in the process earn wages. Thus incomes are being created while the 'capacity effect' would materialize only after some delay, when the investment project is completed and starts producing goods for the market.

Turning back to our isolated bakery firm, let us assume that wages related to the fulfilment of some investment project amount to 200 EUR and are being spent on consumer goods. In this case the 'consumer goods surplus' consisting of 200 loaves of bread can be sold and profits in the consumer goods sector – arising from the production of 1000 loaves of bread – can be transformed from just potential into real ones.

The difference between the 'income effect' and the 'capacity effect' of a given investment project plays a decisive role in understanding the way in which the 'consumer goods' surplus' may find a market. Ex definitione the two effects cannot occur simultaneously. When the 'income effect' manifests itself, the 'capacity effect' does not yet exist because the investment project is still not completed. When, on the other hand, the 'capacity effect' manifests itself, the 'income effect' is already gone because the investment project has been completed. The difference between the two aspects of investment helps us to understand how the 'consumer goods surplus' can be sold. Wages arising from the completion of investment projects create demand for the 'consumer goods surplus' (without influencing its potential volume). In this – and only this – way they make possible the selling of the 'consumer goods surplus' and its transformation into real profits. A capitalist economy could function smoothly only if the 'income' and 'capacity' effects were adjusted to each other in time to assure a constant degree of utilization of resources. This is possible in abstracto, but impossible in real life because it would require investment to increase continuously at a special rate adjusted to existing parameters, a condition which cannot be fulfilled spontaneously in a market economy.

³ There are other non-consumer final goods, namely goods demanded by the Government and by the rest of the world. These goods are ignored here.

5 Investment – an unsteady phenomenon

Investment is a rather fickle occurrence because it is always linked to risk. No one undertaking an investment has a guarantee to be successful, to get back the means invested plus a satisfactory profit, and when exactly this would happen. This is so because investments are oriented towards a more or less distant future which *ex definitione* is unknown. The investor does not know the future costs and the future prices of his produce, the future competition internal and external, the future taxation and the future political situation.

Kalecki was the first economist to introduce the important distinction between investment decisions and investment proper. Investments cannot be compared to, e.g., accidentally buying a new pair of shoes. They require as a rule own financial resources and bank credits which are not always easy to get. Therefore they are not made under some short-lived stimulus but are preceded by detailed analysis, and thorough calculations. Only after this preparatory work is done an investment decision can be made. Further, there exists a necessary delay between the investment decision and the completion of investment. Very often the equipment for an investment project must be individually ordered and produced. Building activities require time as well and do not start immediately even if the investment decision has already been made. For all these reasons investment completed during a period result mostly from decisions made in the preceding period. For the sake of simplicity one can assume that investment decisions made this year result from investment decisions made already last year, and investment decisions made this year will materialize as investment only next year.

The variability of investment over time is the main reason why the consumer goods sector cannot simply produce at its full capacity level. Indeed, if concurrently investment were relatively low, firms in the consumer goods sector would not be able to find satisfactory markets for the 'consumer goods surplus', would earn lower profits than expected or even make losses. Hence they would be well advised to produce at a rate corresponding to the level of actual demand coming from the investment sector in the form of its 'income effect', i.e. according to what the market would absorb, rather than according to what they are able to produce.

6 Quantity versus price adjustment

Let us assume that this year investment is larger than it was last year and consequently wages in the investment sector are 10 EUR higher than they were last year. Of course the 'consumer goods surplus' that can be sold this year would increase by 10 EUR as well. Is this the end of the story? No, because the very production of the additional 'consumer goods surplus' would require more workers and more wages, which in turn would further

increase the demand for consumer goods etc. This process of additional spending and earning inside the consumer goods sector would continue until a point at which the total 'consumer goods surplus' would reach some 'proper' relation to the total output of the consumer good sector. Let us assume that, at the prevailing level of wages and prices, the 'proper' relation is 20%, meaning that profits constitute 20% of the value of the output of the consumer goods sector. (This was the case in our initial example with the vertically integrated bakery: 200 against 1000 loaves of bread.) At this profit share, additional output in the consumer goods sector would amount to 50 EUR, i.e. it would be 5 [=1/(0.2)] times larger than 10 EUR, the initial increase in wages in the investment sector. Indeed at this level of additional output, the additional demand for consumer goods coming from 'outside' (10 EUR) and from inside (40 EUR) would be satisfied.

We have shown how expenditures of the investment sector determine the level of the 'consumer goods surplus' which can find a market and consequently the output level of the consumer goods sector. This is what we mean by saying that expenditures determine incomes or that it is aggregate demand which determines aggregate supply, not *vice versa*.

We have tacitly assumed that there exists some unemployment and that the consumer goods sector has idle capacity, hence may respond to increased demand by an increased supply. This reaction of the consumer goods sector may be called 'quantity adjustment'. We have also tacitly assumed that prices are constant. This implies that unit labour costs are constant as well if one assumes that the relation between nominal wages and labour productivity does not change.

Quantity adjustment does not necessarily require prices to remain constant. If nominal wages increase faster than labour productivity then unit labour costs increase and so do prices. If the price increase adjusts the increase in real wages to the growth of labour productivity, we are still faced with pure quantity adjustment although linked with price inflation. However, in this case at least two provisions must be made. First, we have to assume that investment decisions are made in real rather than in nominal terms; second, we disregard the influence which price inflation may have on nominally determined assets and the resulting changes in aggregate demand.

We can also have quantity adjustment mixed with price adjustment. This will be the case if the profit (wage) share in the consumer goods sector were allowed to change. More specifically, when capacity utilization in the consumer goods sector approaches its limit, prices may increase in relation to labour unit costs in such a way that real wages would grow more slowly than does labour productivity. When the profit share in the consumer goods sector increases, the quantity reaction in this sector provoked by an increase in wages in the investment sector is smaller than would be the case under the initial profit share. For instance, at a profit share of 25% – higher than the 20% assumed previously – additional output in the consumer goods sector would amount to 40 EUR, i.e. it would be 4 [=1/(0.25)] times larger than 10 EUR, the initial increase in wages in the investment sector.

We can have at last pure price adjustment if the production in the consumer goods sector is capacity-constrained while investment is still increasing. In that case only consumer goods prices and the 'consumer goods surplus' would increase at a given level of consumer goods output and the real wage must decline compared with the situation at which investment does not increase.

We have assumed in the last case that production is capacity-constrained in the consumer goods sector but employment can still increase in the investment sector. If full employment prevails in the whole economy together with full utilization of capacity in the consumer goods sector, the price adjustment provoked by an increase in investment becomes a fuzzy concept. Indeed the increase in investment, hence employment in this sector would require under full employment the reduction of employment in the consumer goods sector. Investor would have to attract workers from the consumer goods sector by higher nominal wages – but there is no reason why firms in the consumer goods sector would not try to keep their labour fore by offering higher nominal wages as well. This may result in price inflation *pari passu* with unit labour cost inflation without any increase in the investment outlays to the detriment of consumer goods supply.

7 A two-sector model

We shall assume, for the sake of simplicity, that the Government can be ignored and the closed economy can be divided into two vertically integrated sectors producing I (gross) investment goods (sector 1) and C consumer goods (sector 2), respectively. In each sector (gross) value added is distributed into wages W, which are fully spent on consumer goods, and (gross) profits R, which are fully saved.

sector 1	$W_1 + R_1 = I$
sector 2	$W_2 + R_2 = C$
national economy	W + R = Y

where lower-case numbers at W and R denote the respective sector and where Y denotes GDP.

The 'consumer goods surplus', represented by R_2 , cannot find a market inside sector 2 because profits are saved. On the other hand, W_1 – wages in sector 1 – cannot find consumer goods inside sector 1 because the latter produces only investment goods. Hence the market for consumer goods would be cleared if – and only if – the condition

$$W_1 = R_2 \tag{1}$$

is fulfilled. The arrow above (1) plays a decisive role because it reminds us that expenditure coming from sector 1, i.e. W_1 , determine the saleable 'consumer goods surplus' and not *vice versa*. By adding the term R_1 to both sides we get

 \rightarrow

$$W_1 + R_1 = R_1 + R_2$$

$$\rightarrow$$

$$I = R$$
(2)

According to (2) profits, hence savings, are determined by – but do not determine – investment. Kalecki explained this as 'investment financing itself'. Of course this relation holds for the economy as a whole: an individual capitalist who invests has accumulated a debt equal to his investment (if the financing was credited by the banking system) but the capitalist class *in toto* gets profits which are equal to this investment. In this sense 'investment finances itself' because it creates savings equal to investment.

Thus savings are not a prerequisite of investment but its result. This does not mean that savings do not play an important role in investment. Savings of a firm increase its own capital and this capital is needed for financing a part of the investment project and – what is still more important – for the access to the credit market. Aggregate investments of a given year may be larger than the previous year's savings if firms increase their indebtedness vis-à-vis the banking system; they can also be smaller if firms decrease their indebtedness vis-à-vis the banking system. Of course it may happen that they are equal. The assumption, however, that in a given year firms always invest what they have saved the previous year leads to a logical difficulty if investments are allowed to change over time. Indeed, let us assume that savings of the preceding year denoted S(t-1) *via* investment decisions made the same year determine investment in the following year I(t). Hence

$$St(t-1) = I(t) \tag{3}$$

According to (2), however, we have

$$S(t-1) = I(t-1)$$
 (2')

From (3) and (2') we get

$$I(t) = I(t-1)$$

i.e. the constancy of investment over time if previous-year savings were to directly determine the current year's investment. As investment does change over time, the hypothesis that savings of last year may exactly determine investment of the current year must be rejected.

8 The supply and demand constraint systems

It is interesting to compare the capitalist economy and the centrally planned economy as practised in the past in the Soviet Union and its satellites from the viewpoint of making investment decisions. The centrally planned economy was a supply-constrained economic system because the investment hunger of the state-owned firms was not limited by any economic factors. It was a consequence of the 'soft budget constraint' (Kornai). Investment was always advantageous for firms and implied no risk for the investor. The only method of limiting the investment hunger were administrative methods – and they were completely ineffective. Hence investment was as a rule high and the derived W_1 was too high with respect to the potential 'consumer goods surplus'. Of course, some remedy could be an increase in prices of consumer goods and the resulting increase of the profit share in the consumer goods sector. But the Government used prices as a propaganda tool rather than as a means to assure the equilibrium on the consumer goods market. As a result, in the socialist economy we were confronted with a seller's market. The seller was in a privileged position while buyers have to queue in search of commodities being in short supply. Also the labour market was a seller's market in the sense that employers looked for workers more often than the other way round. Under these conditions full employment and full utilization of capacity was the rule, however, their efficiency was low. Creativity suffered as well. Of course the intensity of the discussed features of the centrally planned economy depended on the economic policy pursued: the more ambitious the plans, the greater the shortages and vice versa. Nevertheless, the term 'shortage economy' (Kornai) describes quite precisely the main weakness of central planning.

Against this background it is easier to discuss the advantages and disadvantages of a capitalist economy. This is a demand-determined system, the main reason being the fact that the propensity to invest is checked by the risk related to investment decisions. Every entrepreneur would weight the expected returns against the possible loss of his own and borrowed capital; he wants to make a gain and is afraid of suffering losses. This is the main reason – at the given profit share in the consumer goods sector – that in the capitalist system the buyer's market prevails: there are commodities of all kinds which 'queue' for buyers. This is also the case for the labour market, where workers 'queue' for jobs. Thus unemployment is not an accidental phenomenon due to labour market inflexibility but a constitutive feature of a capitalist economy linked to the propensity to invest which is very often not intensive enough. The capitalist economy tends towards underemployment of labour force and underutilization of existing capacities at a high efficiency of the utilized

production factors. It also creates conditions for high creativity because the winners in the competitive market are those who offer new products or better ways to produce 'old' goods.

We realize that the capitalist economy has two built-in tendencies. The negative one is the tendency towards underemployment of existing resources, first of all of the labour force. The positive one is its flexibility and ability to innovate and adjust the size and structure of production to the changes in demand. The existence of these two tendencies requires a conscious policy which should support the propensity to invest, the main weakness of the capitalist economy, and limit the losses and sufferings provoked by unemployment. This not easy because the contradictions of the capitalist economy have a common basis in the form of the private property of the means of production. This contradiction cannot be solved but it can be attenuated. This is the proper goal of a successful economic policy.

9 The level of wages and unemployment

At the end of this introduction to the theory of effective demand, let us briefly look at an important topic, namely, whether lowering real wages may help in reducing unemployment. This is a standard postulate of mainstream economics, which sees the source of unemployment in the price of labour, i.e. wages, being too high. That postulate treats the labour market like any other commodity market: If at a given price the supply of a good or service is greater that the demand for it, this price should decline. At a lower price the supply is expected to decline and the demand to increase until that price is found at which supply and demand are equal to each other. This approach may work and does work, e.g. at the horse market. If they are no longer needed in agriculture or as a means of transport, their supply would indeed decline and be adjusted to the demand for horses used in sport activities etc. But workers are not commodities that are produced (or not) in order to be sold and make a gain – although their services, labour, is a special commodity in a capitalist society.

According to mainstream theory, under perfect competition firms maximize profit by expanding production to the level at which marginal cost reaches the price determined by the market. This is tantamount to postulating that the nominal wage rate should be equal to the value of the marginal product of labour or that the marginal product of labour should be equal to the real wage. Thus, if there is unemployment, it is caused by real wages being too high in relation to the (physical) marginal product of labour, which is assumed to be a decreasing function of employment at a given capital stock. By lowering the real wages, conditions are allegedly created for firms to hire more labour with (physical) marginal product declining *pari passu* with increasing employment. Unemployment, according to this approach, is mainly due to real wages being higher than the (physical) marginal product of labour which unemployed workers could produce if employed.

The theory of effective demand does not approve of this theory. It is true that by lowering nominal wages at given labour productivity unit labour costs would decline and, at given price level (or prices falling but less than unit labour costs) the profit share would increase to the detriment of the wage share. However, the expected increase in employment would only materialize if, immediately after the cut in nominal wages, investment were to increase. This is, however, not very likely because today's investments are the result of yesterday's investment decisions. Hence the result of the cut in nominal wages – let us assume, for the sake of simplicity, in the consumer goods sector only – would depend on whether or not investment decisions would be positively influenced by this measure. It seems that this would certainly not be the case. The increase of the profit share would prima facie increase the potential 'consumer goods surplus' in relation to output in the consumer goods sector, the saleable 'consumer goods surplus' remains unchanged. Hence the increase of the profit share in the consumer goods sector requires the latter's output and employment to decline rather than increase.

Thus the immediate consequence of lowering nominal wages would be lower employment and lower output in the consumer goods sector. Although the profit per unit of output in the consumer goods sector would increase, total profit would not change. We can prove this point by using formula (2), according to which profits (identical to savings in our model) are equal to investment. At given investment profits do not change either. This means that the increase in profits per unit of output in the consumer goods sector would be exactly compensated by the decline of units of output in this sector. The volume of profits remaining at the same level at which it was before the nominal wage reduction does not create stimuli for more investment decisions. Still worse, the capacity utilization in the consumer goods sector would deteriorate, hence investment decisions would be influenced even negatively.⁴ We finally come to the conclusion that lowering nominal wages at given labour productivity (or leaving the real wage growth behind labour productivity growth) would not only miss the goal of increasing employment but would rather increase unemployment. Sometimes this way out of severe unemployment is criticized as socially not acceptable. The problem is, however, more serious: it is not a way out of unemployment at all.

⁴ If the economy is open and if prices of consumer goods decline (although less than nominal wages) then under certain conditions the country would be able to expand exports and compensate to some degree the loss of markets caused by the decline of real wages. This factor would only under very special conditions change the conclusions we have arrived at in a closed model.

Short list of the most recent wiiw publications

For current updates and summaries see also wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

Macroeconomics versus 'Common Sense'

by Kazimierz Laski wiiw Working Papers, No. 33, December 2004 11 pages, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 12/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Russian Federation: GDP growth slows down
- Albania: integrating into the Balkans
- Bosnia and Herzegovina: shrinking donations, more foreign investment
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003-2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine
- wiiw, December 2004

21 pages including 13 Tables (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Determinants of Industrial Location Patterns in CEECs

by Antje Hildebrandt and Julia Wörz *wiiw Working Papers*, No. 32, November 2004 21 pages including 6 Tables and 2 Figures, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Manufacturing FDI in New EU Member States – Foreign Penetration and Location Shifts between 1998 and 2002

by Gábor Hunya wiiw Research Reports, No. 311, November 2004 44 pages including 13 Tables, EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 11/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Updated wiiw forecasts for 2004 and 2005
- Bulgaria: economy keeps growing fuelled by credit expansion
- Romania: booming, but cumbersome years ahead until EU accession
- Croatia: growth losing momentum
- Serbia and Montenegro: growth recovers
- Macedonia: stagnation returns
- Ukraine: a good grain harvest and booming exports
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003-2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, November 2004

30 pages including 17 Tables

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Countries in Transition 2004: wiiw Handbook of Statistics

covers twelve transition countries (Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Macedonia, Romania, Russia, Serbia and Montenegro, Slovakia, Slovenia, Ukraine), 1990 to August 2004 wiiw, Vienna, November 2004

555 pages including 415 Tables and Figures, EUR 90.00 (ISBN 3-85209-009-1)

Foreign Direct Investment and the Catching-up Process in New EU Member States: Is There a Flying Geese Pattern?

by Jože P. Damijan and Matija Rojec *wiiw Research Reports*, No. 310, October 2004 48 pages including 17 Tables and 10 Figures, EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 10/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Czech Republic: economy in full swing at last
- Hungary: new government facing old problems
- Poland: strong profits and weak investment
- Slovakia: robust economic growth amidst increasing regional disparities
- Slovenia: running smoothly
- Estonia: fast growth, on track to the euro
- Latvia: highest EU-wide growth, deteriorating current account balance
- Lithuania: loans fuel boom without inflation
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003 to 2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, October 2004

41 pages including 18 Tables and 2 Figures (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Income Distribution, Technical Change and the Dynamics of International Economic Integration

by Michael Landesmann and Robert Stehrer *wiiw Working Papers*, No. 31, September 2004 23 pages including 3 Tables and 2 Figures, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Tax Rates and Corruption: Labour-market and Fiscal Effects. Empirical cross-country comparisons on OECD and transition countries

by Mária Lackó wiiw Research Reports, No. 309, September 2004 80 pages including 27 Tables and 16 Figures, EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 8-9/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Does FDI follow comparative advantage?
- A note on Modigliani-Miller and the balance of payments
- Do profit tax cuts stimulate private investment?
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003 to 2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, August/September 2004

33 pages including 13 Tables and 9 Figures (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

WIIW-WIFO Database: Foreign Direct Investment in Central and Eastern Europe with Special Attention to Austrian FDI Activities in this Region

by Gábor Hunya and Jan Stankovsky

wiiw and WIFO, Vienna, 17th edition, July 2004 64 pages including 48 Tables, EUR 47.00 (PDF: EUR 47.00)

As East You Go, the More They Grow: Transition Economies in a New Setting

by Vladimir Gligorov, Josef Pöschl, Sándor Richter et al.

wiiw Research Reports, No. 308, July 2004

112 pages including 38 Tables and 11 Figures, EUR 70.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 7/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Belarus: sustainable growth without structural reforms?
- A note on dissatisfaction with integration
- Quality gains in exports of the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003 to 2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine
- wiiw, July 2004

29 pages including 15 Tables and 1 Figure

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

FDI in Small Countries: the Baltic States

by Gábor Hunya *wiiw Research Reports*, No. 307, June 2004 (reprinted from *EIB Papers*, Vol. 9, No. 2, 2004, pp. 92-115) 23 pages including 3 Tables and 8 Figures, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 6/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Domestic absorption, real exchange rates and trade balances in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia
- Foreign direct investment in the Central European new EU members
- Is rapid, long-term economic growth in Poland likely?
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003 to 2004
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, June 2004

29 pages including 12 Tables and 1 Figure

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Can Trade Explain the Sector Bias of Skill-biased Technical Change?

by Robert Stehrer wiiw Working Papers, No. 30, May 2004 28 pages including 13 Tables, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Wirtschaftsentwicklung in den MOEL durch deutliche Konvergenz geprägt

by Vasily Astrov *wiiw Research Papers in German language*, May 2005 (reprinted from: *WIFO-Monatsberichte*, Vol. 77, No. 5, May 2004) 19 pages including 10 Tables and 8 Figures, EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 5/04

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Ukraine, the European Union and EU Eastern enlargement
- Household tax compliance in Central, East and Southeast Europe
- Optimal currency areas in transition
- New wiiw book, Shaping the New Europe
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2002 to 2004

Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine wiiw, May 2004

31 pages including 12 Tables and 1 Figure

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

wiiw Service Package

The Vienna Institute offers to firms and institutions interested in unbiased and up-to-date information on Central, East and Southeast European markets a package of exclusive services and preferential access to its publications and research findings, on the basis of a subscription at an annual fee of EUR 2,000.

This subscription fee entitles to the following package of **Special Services**:

- A free invitation to the Vienna Institute's Spring Seminar, a whole-day event at the end of March, devoted to compelling topics in the economic transformation of the Central and East European region (for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package only).
- Copies of, or online access to, *The Vienna Institute Monthly Report*, a periodical consisting of timely articles summarizing and interpreting the latest economic developments in Central and Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union. The statistical annex to each *Monthly Report* contains tables of the latest monthly country data. This periodical is not for sale, it can only be obtained in the framework of the wiiw Service Package.
- Free copies of the Institute's *Research Reports* (including *Reprints*), *Analytical Forecasts* and *Current Analyses and Country Profiles*
- A free copy of the wiiw Handbook of Statistics, Countries in Transition (published in October/November each year and containing more than 400 tables and figures on the economies of Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Macedonia, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia and Montenegro, Slovakia, Slovenia and Ukraine)
- Free online access to the wiiw Monthly Database, containing more than 1200 leading indicators monitoring the latest key economic developments in ten Central and East European countries.
- Consulting. The Vienna Institute is pleased to advise subscribers on questions concerning the East European economies or East-West economic relations if the required background research has already been undertaken by the Institute. We regret we have to charge extra for *ad hoc* research.
- Free access to the Institute's specialized economics library and documentation facilities.

Subscribers who wish to purchase wiiw data sets **on CD-ROM** or special publications not included in the wiiw Service Package are granted considerable **price reductions**.

For detailed information about the wiiw Service Package please visit wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

To The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies Oppolzergasse 6 A-1010 Vienna

O Please forward more detailed information about the Vienna Institute's Service Package

O Please forward a complete list of the Vienna Institute's publications to the following address

Please enter me for

 1 yearly subscription of *Research Reports* (including *Reprints*) at a price of EUR 225.00 (within Austria), EUR 250.00 (Europe) and EUR 265.00 (overseas) respectively

Please forward

0	the following issue of Research Reports
0	the following issue of Analytical Forecasts
0	the following issue of Current Analyses and Country Profiles
0	the following issue of Working Papers
0	the following issue of Research Papers in German language
0	the following issue of China Reports
0	the following issue of Industry Studies
0	the following issue of Structural Reports
0	the following issue of wiw-wifo Data on Foreign Direct Investment
0	the following issue of COUNTRIES IN TRANSITION: wiiw Handbook of Statistics

••••••		
Name		
Address		
Telephone	Fax	E-mail
Date		Signature

Herausgeber, Verleger, Eigentümer und Hersteller:

Verein "Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche" (wiiw),
Wien 1, Oppolzergasse 6Postanschrift:A-1010 Wien, Oppolzergasse 6, Tel: [+431] 533 66 10, Telefax: [+431] 533 66 10 50Internet Homepage:www.wiiw.ac.at

Nachdruck nur auszugsweise und mit genauer Quellenangabe gestattet.

P.b.b. Verlagspostamt 1010 Wien